IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PEDRO HERNANDEZ-ALBERTO, :

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case No.SC02-1617

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JOHN C. FISHER
Assistant Public Defender
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 999865

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant, Pedro Hernandez-Alberto, was convicted of killing his stepdaughters, Donna Berezovsky and Isela Gonzalez, and was sentenced to death for each offense (v12:1389-1390; v3:410).

INTRODUCTION

Hernandez was born and raised in El Ciruelo, a remote, extremely primitive town in mountainous south-central Mexico (v10:971-976, 982-985, 998-1000, 1023-1029, 1102-1103; v11:1134, 1150-1156). The town has no running water, a ditch is used for sewage, the primitive homes lack refrigeration, and coconut shells are used for cooking fuel (v10:973, 1024-1026). The people have exotic customs and dress (v10:974). They speak an Indian dialect which is difficult to understand, and Spanish is a second language (v10:973). Average education is six years but many people are illiterate (v11:1152-1153). Men are expected to be dominant and have authority in the family (v11:1153-1154). Until recently, men abusing wives or children was considered normal (v10:975, 1027).

As a young child, Hernandez lived with his parents (v10:976). His father fished and sharecropped, and his mother worked at home (v10:976, 995). His father was a weekend alcoholic who beat his wife and children when drinking (v10:976, 995-996, 1011, 1020, 1095, 1097-1099). When Hernandez was perhaps ten years old, his mother hemorrhaged from beatings then behaved like she was mentally ill, but she

 $^{^{1}}$ The police now take reports of such incidents, jail the abuser overnight, and fine him \$10, but abuse of spouses and children continues to be common (v10:975, 1027).

received no treatment (v10:976-977, 992-994, 996, 1000-1001, 1018, 1032, 1087, 1094-1097; v11:1126-1127). It was rumored that Hernandez's grandfather became insane (v10:1006-1007).

Hernandez's mother was kept tied to furniture, but she repeatedly escaped (v10:977, 992-995). During one escape she was raped (v10:977). A child resulting from the incident was given away by Hernandez's grandmother (v10:977, 995, 997). Hernandez's mother disappeared and her murder was suspected (v10:977, 995, 1017, 1018, 1094-1097; v11:1126-1127). Hernandez's father deserted the family and later died (v10:977, 981, 998-999, 1017).

Hernandez was raised by a neighbor, perhaps from the onset of his mother's insanity, and a sister was raised by their grandmother (v10:974, 992-993, 998-999, 1003-1004, 1007, 1011, 1018-1019, 1097, 1099). He was abused by the neighbor, and he could not play because of his mandatory chores (v10:1006, 1097, 1099). He was calm, peaceful, capable of loving and respectful relationships, attended school regularly, and achieved high grades (v10:998, 1000, 1010-1011, 1020-1021, 1101; v11:1113-1116). There was no evidence of mental illness in Hernandez during his youth (v11:1125-1126).

Hernandez moved to Mexico City as a teenager, living with an uncle (v10:1033, 1018, 1021-1022, 1100-1101). He worked, including as an auxiliary police officer or security guard, and did not continue his education (v10:1033-1034, 1100-1101, 1116-1117).

Hernandez sought a better life in U.S., moving to California, to Georgia, then to Florida (v10:1021, 1033-1034; v11:1127). He

communicated with family that he was doing well and became religious, and he sent back money (v10:1004-1006, 1021-1022, 1101).

In 1994, Hernandez's car was hit by a Hillsborough County
Sheriff's Office vehicle (v7:550; v8:788, 796; v10:979-981, 10301031, 1092-1093). He was treated for injuries and released, but he
believed his injuries were not properly diagnosed (v8:788, 980;
v10:980, 1031). He believed the accident caused broken bones in his
head, neck, and back, which were linked to mental problems, painful
blood lumps, strong headaches, and a collapsing lung, none of which
were properly treated (v7:788-790). No brain injury was diagnosed,
and no PET scan, CAT scan, or MRI examinations were done (v10:1032;
v11:1135-1136). During nine months of treatment of neck and back
injuries at a chiropractic clinic, he complained of head pain,
headaches, dizziness, sleep problems, loss of concentration, nervousness, and fatigue which were consistent with a concussion or brain
injury (v10:1032, 1089; v11:1129, 1135, 1180, 1199-1201).

Hernandez met Maria Carmen Gonzalez and her children before the 1994 accident, but they began dating after the accident (v7:550; v8:792; v11:1132-1133). Carmen owned the profitable Apollo Family Restaurant in Apollo Beach (v7:552-553; v8:758, 806). Her two adult children Salvador and Isela Gonzalez, and one minor child, Donna Berezovsky, lived in her home and worked at her restaurant (v7:550-553, 603-605). While they were dating, her children may not approved of Hernandez, but Salvador believed he and Hernandez got along (v7:550, 605). Hernandez and Carmen married in 1996, living initially at his home while Carmen's children lived in her home (v7:546,

550-551; v8:758). After their daughter Gabriella was born on October 25, 1996, they moved into Carmen's home with her children (v7:551-552; v8:758). Hernandez began working at the restaurant (v7:553; v8:758).

Carmen believed Hernandez began to change after Gabriella was born and the changes caused problems in the marriage (v7:553-554, 557-558). He was irrational, jealous, suspicious, irritable, and angry, which made him unpopular with the entire household (v4:95-98; v7:553-554, 557-558; v10:1082-1087, 1091-1092; v11:1131-1132, 1136-1138, 1143-1144). Hernandez believed Carmen had been at the emergency room after his accident and he subsequently told her he was not well physically and mentally, but Carmen denied she was present at the emergency room, denied he complained of mental problems, and denied she perceived the change in his behavior after the accident (v7:550, 573; v8:797; v11:1132-1133).

Carmen asserted Hernandez wanted everything, including the restaurant, in his name (v7:553-554). Hernandez denied demanding everything be put in his name, but said someone from Immigration suggested they put some things in both of their names (v8:807-809). Carmen asserted Hernandez blamed her children for marital problems, he did not love them, and he wanted them to leave the home, but he denied blaming the children (v7:557; v8:810). They unsuccessfully sought marriage counselling at church (v7:558).

Hernandez apparently possessed a hand gun for years and he may have kept it in his car (v8:731-732, 803, 806). Carmen was unaware

that he owned a gun and did not allow firearms in her home (v7:572). Hernandez regularly wore a black fanny pack (v7:571; v8:801).

During the weeks preceding January 3, 1999, Hernandez and Carmen argued and no one in the family got along with Hernandez (v7:558, 605, 617; v8:722-725, 758, 809). Hernandez asserted he tried to live in peace, he never thought of harming his family, and he never hit Carmen or the children (v8:792, 794, 809). Carmen believed he overheard her discussion with a friend about getting an attorney for a divorce (v7:558-559). Hernandez asserted the marriage was good and denied believing it was over (v8:809).

In January of 1999, Hernandez's income was from the restaurant (v10:1028). The Apollo Beach home was luxurious compared to the homes of his youth, this was the best standard of living he ever had, and he was aware a loss of income and lifestyle could result from ending the relationship (v10:1030, 1034; v11:1139).

THE INCIDENT

In the morning of January 3, 1999, Carmen and Hernandez spoke in the living room (v7:556-560, 607). Hernandez said he wanted to leave the home and he wanted Carmen to later give him Gabriella (v7:556-557). Carmen agreed to Hernandez leaving, but she did not agree to give him Gabriella (v7:557). While they spoke, Salvador who had recently moved to live with a girlfriend, arrived and joined Donna and Gabriella in the family room (v7:556, 604-606).

At 9:30 a.m., Carmen went to the restaurant which was five minutes away (v7:559). Hernandez had not told Carmen what had upset him (v7:559-560). Salvador left to run some errands at 11:00 or

11:15 a.m., and eleven-year-old Donna, two-year-old Gabriella, and Hernandez remained at home (v7:607; v8:727).

Hernandez asserted he did not subsequently kill Donna or he did not know what happened, and denied later telling an officer he killed Donna or asserted he involuntarily repeated what the officer told him (v8:787, 795, 800, 802-803, 810-811). The officer asserted Hernandez admitted: he put Gabriella into a bedroom; he told Donna, who had put pressure on his troubled marriage, to pick up a toy in the family room; she did not comply; he struck her by her right ear; she fell to the floor; he removed his gun from his fanny pack and shot Donna once as she lay face down, killing her; he killed her because he was upset by her disrespect; and he was acting like an animal² (v8:722-727, 732).

Hernandez then drove his car quickly to the restaurant and arrived with an upset expression on his face (v7:563; v8:810).

Carmen, Isela, and other employees worked in the kitchen, and customers were present (v7:559-570, 575-576, 580-589, 595-600; v8:747-750).

Hernandez walked through the kitchen, entered the men's room for some minutes, and then walked through the kitchen to the food service area (v7:583-587; v8:729). Employees and customers heard three shots, but none saw the shooting (v7:565, 568-569, 587, 596-600; v8:748, 750).

Seconds later, Hernandez walked out the back door, carrying a gun and looking straight ahead (v7:587-589). He sped away in his car (v7:589-590; v8:750-752). Isela was laying on the floor and against

 $^{^2}$ The tape of the interview was never played, and the only evidence of the conversation was the officer's testimony (v8:743).

the grill, bleeding and unable to speak (v7:569-570, 590, 626-629; v8:750-752, 774).

Hernandez asserted that although he went to the restaurant, he did not kill Isela or he did not know what happened, and he denied later telling an officer he killed Donna or asserted he involuntarily repeated what the officer told him (v8:787, 795, 800-803). The officer asserted Hernandez admitted: he drove to the restaurant and entered the back door; he went to the men's room and remained there for several minutes; he entered the kitchen; he shot Isela, who had put pressure on his troubled marriage, twice in the back; she fell to the floor, then he shot her again in the back of the head; he went out the back door; he drove directly away toward Mexico, stopping twice for gas before he was arrested in Texas; he killed his stepdaughters because he was upset by their disrespect; and he repeatedly referred to his behavior in shooting his stepdaughters as acting like an animal (v8:724-725, 728-732).

At approximately 12:50 p.m., police and paramedics arrived at the restaurant (v7:625). Isela appeared to be dead, but she was treated and flown to a hospital where she died (v7:626-629; v8:674, 679, 774-776). A bullet was recovered from Isela and two spent casings were found in the kitchen (v7:629, 635-642, 652).

Officers arrived at the home at 1:08 p.m., upon being summoned by Salvador (v7:614-617, 619). Donna was laying dead on the family room floor (v7:612-615, 621-623). Gabriella was crying (v7:611, 621). Time of death was estimated at between noon and 1:00 p.m.

(v7:647; v8:666). A bullet was found in Donna's blouse and a spent casing was found nearby (v7:615-616, 647-648, 650, 652; v8:667).

At 3:45 a.m. on January 4, a policeman in Brookshire, Texas saw Hernandez at a gas station near Interstate 10 (v8:692-693). After Hernandez ducked down and watched the officer pass, the officer learned he was wanted in Florida and arrested him (v8:693-696, 804, 811). In his car were two black fanny packs, one of which contained ammunition and a loaded 9 mm handgun (v8:696-701). The officer did not let Hernandez get his brace (v8:805).

Hernandez was questioned in Spanish by the Brookshire Chief of Police, after he obtained information from Florida authorities (v4:146, 149-162; v8:706-713, 719-732, 740-742, 786-787, 802-803).The officer asserted he informed Hernandez of his Miranda rights and his right to contact the Mexican Consul and he had access to a phone, but he agreed to talk, he sought to contact no one, he never asserted a mental or physical disability, and he admitted killing his stepdaughters (v4:146, 149-152; v8:709-713, 719-732, 740-741). officer stated he never contacted the Mexican Consul about the arrest (v4:162). Hernandez agreed he was told of his right to remain silent, but asserted his admissions were involuntary because he told the officer he was not right mentally, he was denied access to a phone, and he was denied access to phone numbers of lawyers and friends in his wallet (v8:787). He denied confessing to the killings and asserted his admissions were mere repetition of what the officer told him (v8:802-803).

An autopsy was done on January 4, 1999 (v8:667). A bruise on Donna's face was consistent with being struck by a man's hand (v8:669). The cause of death was homicide, by a gunshot to the middle of her back through her spinal cord, aorta, lung, and out of her chest, then through her arm (v8:669-673). The injuries were consistent with being shot while face down on the floor (v8:671). The injury to the aorta resulted in death within minutes (v8:673).

Isela died from homicide, from three gunshots, all of which were potentially lethal (v8:674-675, 678-679, 682). A wound to her lower back passed through her hip and intestines, then exited the front of her body (v8:676-677, 682). A wound higher on her back penetrated her lung, diaphragm, spleen, pituitary gland, kidney, pancreas, and stomach, then exited her body (v8:675, 677, 682). Tattooing on this wound indicated the gun was within two feet (v8:682). The wound to her neck struck her spine, then went through her carotid artery and jugular vein (v8:675, 677-678). The bullet was recovered from her neck (v8:679-680, v8:687-689).

Back in Texas, Hernandez consented to a search of his car (v8:732-733, 735). Detectives flew from Florida to Texas and met with the Chief of Police who turned over items including the firearm, bullets, and fanny pack (v8:735-736, 756). A firearms examiner determined the spent casings and bullets were fired from the 9 mm semi-automatic pistol (v8:762-766). No prior criminal history of Hernandez was found in Mexico or the U.S. (v10:979).

PRETRIAL MATTERS

On January 13, 1999, an indictment was filed in Hillsborough County charging Hernandez with two counts of premeditated murder, in violation of section 782.04, Florida Statutes (1997) (v1:1, 19-20). On February 16, 1999, the State filed notice of seeking the death penalty (v1:1, 26).

The defense hired Dr. Mussenden who visited Hernandez three times in March and April of 1999, and gave him many tests (v10:1038-1040, 1044-1045, 1050-1052, 1061). During the first visit Hernandez was cooperative; during the second visit he was less cooperative; and during the last visit he was uncooperative and mentally deteriorated (v10:1039-1040, 1044, 1050-1052, 1061). Hernandez was guarded, defensive, suspicious, and made statements about people which sounded paranoid (v10:1039).

On April 6, 1999, the defense moved for a determination of Hernandez's competency to stand trial (s1:1-2). The motion noted his responses were generally appropriate and relevant when he initially spoke with counsel and investigators, but his ability to communicate deteriorated (s1:1). The court appointed Dr. Saa and Dr. Maher to examine Hernandez (v1:27-30; v12:1272).

At a May 18, 1999 hearing held before Circuit Judge Chet A. Tharpe³, the defense noted Dr. Saa and Dr. Maher found Hernandez incompetent to proceed (v12:1277). The report of Dr. Maher indicated Hernandez: had a major psychiatric disorder, but might be malingering; was treated in jail with antidepressant and antipsychotic

³ All subsequent hearings were held before Judge Tharpe.

medications; did not appreciate the charges, the potential penalties, or the legal process; lacked ability to communicate facts to counsel because of poor English, depression, and a thought disorder; and lacked capacity to manifest appropriate courtroom behavior and to testify relevantly (v1:32-36). Dr. Maher found he was not competent to proceed, and he needed further evaluation and treatment (v1:32, 34, 36).

Dr. Saa's report stated Hernandez: had poor attention, memory, and thought process, and his answers did not respond to questions; claimed to have auditory hallucinations; may suffer from depression with psychosis and was so diagnosed by the jail infirmary; was receiving antidepressant and antipsychotic medications; suffered a head/back injury in 1994; did not understand the charges, potential penalties, or legal process; would be unable to disclose relevant facts to counsel; had capacity for appropriate courtroom behavior; lacked capacity to testify relevantly; and might be malingering (v1:40-43). Dr. Saa found he was not competent to proceed and met the criteria for involuntary hospitalization (v1:43). The court found Hernandez was incompetent to stand trial and ordered commitment to a State hospital (v12:1277; v1:37-39).

On June 28, 1999, the Department of Children and Families filed a motion with attachments, seeking Hernandez's return to county jail (v1:45-56; v3:439-451). The documents asserted: he had no mental illness; he was malingering; he was competent to proceed; he smashed a nursing station window while trying to intimidate a psychiatrist;

and the staff feared him and believed he was capable of hurting someone (v1:46-49, 52-56; v3:441-451).

At a hearing held on June 28, 1999, the defense had no objection to the Department's motion and it requested a competency hearing (s1:45). The court ordered Hernandez should again be evaluated by Dr. Saa and Dr. Maher (s1:46; v1:59-63).

At a hearing held on August 17, 1999, an interpreter was present (s1:48-53), and this is true for all subsequent hearings attended by Hernandez. At a hearing held on September 16, 1999, Hernandez asked for appointment of a Spanish speaking attorney (v12:1282). The court informed him that a Spanish speaking attorney, Ms. Goudie, would be assisting the defense (v12:1283).

At a competency hearing held on November 9, 1999, and at the onset of the testimony of Dr. Saa, Hernandez refused to remain silent and he was removed from the courtroom (v12:1292).

Dr. Saa said he twice evaluated Hernandez and based on the interviews and the legal criteria, found him incompetent to proceed (v12:1289-1291, 1298-1303). Dr. Saa noted he had memory gaps (v12:1291). Dr. Saa believed he might be malingering, but noted he could be mentally ill and malingering (v12:1291, 1299-130 The written report of Dr. Saa indicated that during the second evaluation, Hernandez asked for medication, said he had former head injuries and was hearing voices, and asked to see an attorney, but he did not elaborate on these matters (v1:69-70). He was evasive, gave irrelevant responses, and claimed to have massive memory gaps (v1:70). He claimed not to know the charges against him, the poten-

tial penalties, or the roles of the judge, jury, State Attorney, and Public Defender (v1:70). Dr. Saa believed was he was malingering, but found him incompetent to proceed (v1:70-71).

During the examination of Dr. Maher, Hernandez was again ordered to cease interrupting, and threatened with removal from the courtroom (v12:1307). He complained counsel were not helping him or communicating to the court as he requested (v12:1308-1309).

Dr. Maher said he saw Hernandez on twice, originally found him incompetent, but subsequently found him competent (v12:1304-1317). On August 4, 1999, he attempted a psychiatric exam, and competency and cognitive evaluation (v12:1305-1307). He might be mentally ill, but assessment was prevented by his refusal to participate (v12:1305-1307, 1313-1316). Dr. Maher found he hallucinated during the first visit, but not during the second visit (v12:1309-1310). Dr. Maher believed he was malingering, but agreed mentally ill or incompetent persons may malinger (v12:1306-1311, 1314-1315). Hernandez did not state he appreciated the charges, penalties, or other criteria of competence, but Dr. Maher found him competent based on indirect evidence (v12:1311-1313, 1317).

The written report of Dr. Maher indicated he found Hernandez was competent and appeared to be malingering (v1:64-66). Dr. Maher noted his deception and lack of participation in the evaluation might conceal a thought disorder or psychiatric illness (v1:66-67).

Dr. Balzer, a psychologist at the State Hospital, said that during Hernandez's five weeks at the facility, he was uncoopera-tive, uncommunicative, unfriendly, and menacing (v12:1320-1335). He broke

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