#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### PEDRO HERNANDEZ-ALBERTO,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC02-1617

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

#### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KIMBERLY NOLEN HOPKINS Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar ID#: 0986682 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite

200

Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813) 287-7910 Fax (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### Procedural background

On January 13, 1999, the Defendant was indicted for two counts of first degree murder for the murder of his two stepdaughters, Donna Berezovsky and Isela Gonzalez on January 3, 1999. (I/19-20). Trial was held August 21 through 24, 2001, after which the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on both counts. (II/317-318). The penalty phase was conducted on November 29, 2001, resulting in an advisory sentence of death for both counts by a vote of 10 to 2. (III/353).

Following a <u>Spencer</u> hearing held on April 30, 2002, the trial judge issued a Sentencing Order on May 28, 2002, sentencing Defendant to death on both counts of first degree murder. (III/396-411). With respect to the murder of Donna Berezovsky, the trial court found the following aggravators: the prior violent felony for the murder of Isela Gonzalez, the fact that Donna Berezovsky was under the age of twelve, and that Donna Berezovsky was particularly vulnerable because the Defendant stood in a position of familial or custodial authority over her. With respect to the murder of Isela Gonzalez, the aggravators included: the prior violent felony for the murder Donna Berezovsky and that the crime was committed in a cold and calculated and premeditated manner and without any pretense of

moral or legal justification. (III/398-400).

In regard to statutory mitigation, the trial court gave some weight to the fact that Defendant had no significant prior criminal history. (III/401). In nonstatutory mitigation, the trial court gave some weight to the fact that Defendant suffered beatings by his father and that he confessed to the crimes charged. Little weight was given to the fact that the Defendant had brain damage, the Defendant lost his mother at a young age, suffered beatings by a neighbor, trained and worked as an auxiliary policeman in Mexico City in his youth, was capable of loving relationships and had borderline intelligence.

The trial court gave no weight to the statutory mitigators that Defendant committed the murders while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, that the capacity of the Defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired or to the Defendant's age at the time of the crime. The trial court also gave no weight to the nonstatutory mitigation that Defendant grew up in extreme poverty. (III/401-409).

This appeal ensued.

#### Competency proceedings

Initially, on April 19, 1999, the trial court issued an

Order for Competency and Sanity Evaluation and Psychiatric Evaluation seeking a determination from Drs. Michael Maher and Alfonso Saa as to whether the Defendant was competent to stand trial. (I/27-31). Dr. Maher's evaluation, dated May 7, 1999, concluded that the Defendant was not competent to stand trial. While the Defendant was somewhat uncooperative and his presentation and history were somewhat contradictory, Dr. Maher recommended evaluation and treatment in a secure forensic psychiatric hospital. Dr. Maher expected such treatment to restore Defendant to a level of competence within three to six months. (I/32-36).

Dr. Saa issued a report on May 3, 1999, also concluding that Defendant was not competent to stand trial. However, Dr. Saa questioned whether Defendant's current clinical presentation was a reflection of the stress he was facing or possible malingering. Dr. Saa further concluded that involuntary hospitalization and further psychiatric treatment would help treat Defendant's condition, as well as ascertain whether he was malingering. (I/40-43).

On May 18, 1999, relying on the evaluations of Drs. Maher and Saa, the trial court issued an Order Adjudging Defendant Incompetent to Stand Trial committing Defendant to the Department of Children and Families to be placed in a mental

health facility. (I/37-39). Subsequently, on June 17, 1999, the South Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center issued a competency evaluation finding Defendant had no major mental disorder, was competent to proceed, was capable of assisting his attorney and acting appropriately in court. (I/44-45, 50-54). Letters dated June 24, 1999, from the treatment center confirmed the conclusion that Defendant was malingering, had no major mental illness and was competent to proceed. (I/46-47, 48-49).

After receiving the report of the treatment center finding Defendant to be a malingerer, on July 12, 1999, the trial court issued an Order of Transport returning Defendant to the custody of the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office. (I/57-58). On July 13, 1999, the trial court issued a second Order for Competency and Sanity Evaluation and Psychiatric Evaluation Return, seeking further examination of the Defendant by Drs. Maher and Saa. (I/59-62).

On July 22, 1999, Dr. Saa submitted his evaluation to the trial court. (I/68-71). Dr. Saa's clinical impression was that Defendant's presentation was more compatible with malingering rather than a clear mental infirmity, defect or disease. (I/70). However, Dr. Saa concluded that Defendant was not competent to stand trial based on legal criteria, while noting that his conclusions were colored by Defendant's likely

malingering. (I/71).

On August 6, 1999, Dr. Maher concluded that Defendant was competent to stand trial. (I/64-67). According to Dr. Maher,

Defendant is engage [sic] The in an ongoing systematic pattern of deception in order to appear mentally impaired and incompetent. This pattern of behavior limits the opportunities to perform a thorough psychiatric assessment regarding more subtle or underlying impairments or limitations. However, his presentation, history and demeanor are sufficient to strongly support a conclusion of competency to proceed.

(I/64). Notably, Dr. Maher also opined that, "...while [Defendant's] pattern of malingering [was] likely to continue, he [would], in all likelihood, remain competent throughout his legal proceedings." (I/67).

A competency hearing was conducted on November 9, 1999. (XII/1285-1341). The trial court heard testimony from Drs. Maher and Saa, as well as Dr. Balzer from the treatment center where Defendant had been placed for five weeks.

Dr. Saa confirmed his conclusions that Defendant was incompetent. However, he also noted that Defendant's clinical condition was not consistent with a mental illness. And, if he had the conditions he was alleging to have, the Defendant would be very much impaired. Thus, Dr. Saa had concerns that Defendant was malingering. (XII/1299).

Dr. Maher also confirmed the conclusions stated in his

previous evaluations of Defendant. While he initially found Defendant incompetent, following his second evaluation, Dr. Maher concluded that Defendant was competent to stand trial. (XII/1306). According to Dr. Maher, Defendant was systematically and willfully evading and presenting a picture of himself that was not genuine for the purpose of avoiding legal circumstances. (XII/1306-1307).

Next, the trial court heard from Dr. Balzer from the treatment center who had observed Defendant for five weeks. (XII/1321). Upon observation, the first indications of Defendant's malingering were his claimed memory problems. His memory deficits were selective and self-serving. (XII/1322). Dr. Balzer and the treatment team ultimately concluded that Defendant was competent to stand trial and was malingering. (XII/1322-1323). Further, Defendant suffered from no major psychiatric problems. (XII/1324).

Relying on the testimony of the three experts, along with their written evaluations, the trial court found the Defendant competent to stand trial. (XII/1338-1340). Trial preparation then proceeded accordingly.

Later, in response to a request from defense counsel for appointment of a medical doctor to examine Defendant, (I/94-96), the trial court appointed Dr. Arlene Martinez to evaluate and

б

treat Defendant. (I/97). On September 22, 2000, Dr. Martinez issued a report finding Defendant paranoid and psychotic and ordering medication as treatment. (I/38-102). However, Dr. Martinez's report noted that she had absolutely no background information on the Defendant nor did she have any past medical history information. (I/38).

Again, after defense counsel sought another competency determination to determine the Defendant's most immediate status, (Supp. 2/189-197), on August 9, 2001, the trial court issued an Order for Competency and Sanity Evaluation and Psychiatric Evaluation Return, seeking a third examination of the Defendant by Drs. Maher and Saa. (I/123-127). On August 13, 2001, Dr. Saa reported to the trial court that Defendant's failure to cooperate prevented him from rendering an opinion about Defendant's competence to stand trial. (II/279). However, this report also noted the findings of the in-house psychiatrist, Dr. Stoll, who also determined that Defendant was malingering. (II/279). On August 15, 2001, Dr. Maher reported that Defendant was competent to stand trial. (II/280-283).

On August 20, 2001, a competency hearing was held. Dr. Maher testified regarding his conclusions from the three evaluations he conducted on Defendant. In the first evaluation, Dr. Maher found Defendant to be incompetent. However, he was

not able to do a full-scale mental health evaluation because Defendant was unwilling to participate. Even at that time, Dr. Maher had some reservations that Defendant might have been malingering. (IV/35).

As a result of the evaluations done by Drs. Maher and Saa, Defendant was hospitalized for five weeks. The psychiatric staff at the hospital concluded Defendant was malingering to frustrate the trial process and was competent to stand trial. (IV/36).

After Defendant's return to Hillsborough County, Dr. Maher did a second evaluation. This time Dr. Maher found Defendant to be competent. (IV/37). This change in opinion was partially based on the observations made at the hospital that Defendant functioned well and did not behave consistent with any major mental health problems. (IV/37-38). Finally, in his third evaluation, Dr. Maher also concluded that Defendant was competent to stand trial. (IV/39).

Dr. Maher also testified to his observations of Defendant's courtroom behavior on the date of the hearing. According to Dr. Maher, Defendant's behavior supported a finding of competence. Moreover, Defendant showed no signs of psychotic thought patterns. (IV/40-42, 58). Dr. Maher believed that Defendant was still engaged in a pattern of deception. (IV/42, 59).

Additionally, the possibility that Defendant might have a brain injury would be irrelevant to Dr. Maher's opinion of his competency to proceed. (IV/75-76).

Next, Dr. Saa testified regarding his findings. He first found Defendant to be incompetent to stand trial with a diagnosis of psychosis. (IV/80). However, like Dr. Maher, Dr. Saa had concerns, even at that time, that Defendant was malingering. (IV/80-81). In his second evaluation, Dr. Saa also found Defendant incompetent. (IV/81). Again, however, Dr. Saa noted in that second report that, "My clinical impression is that the defendant's current clinical presentation is more compatible with malingering rather than a clear mental infirmity, disease or defect." (IV/82). At the third evaluation, the Defendant refused to talk to Dr. Saa. Therefore, he stated that he could not render an opinion as to Defendant's competency. (IV/84).

The defense then called Dr. Robert Berland, a forensic psychologist hired by the defense to assist in preparation for the penalty phase. (IV/87-88). Dr. Berland tried to see the Defendant twice. On both occasions, the Defendant refused to cooperate with any evaluation or discussion with Dr. Berland. (IV/88-89). Moreover, after reviewing the police reports, witness statements, medical records, an interview with the Texas

authorities who arrested Defendant, and speaking with Dr. Martinez and Defendant's cell mate, Dr. Berland could not form an opinion he could swear to with substantial psychological certainty. (IV/89-91). Rather, he offered his opinion, not a well-founded conclusion, that some secondary evidence was consistent with a brain injury resulting in delusional paranoid thinking. (IV/92-93). He admitted his opinion did not rise to the level of a diagnosis of mental illness. (IV/104).

Ultimately, the trial court ruled that Defendant was competent to proceed. (IV/126).

Even after the jury verdict of guilt, the trial court, once again, ordered a competency evaluation, on September 5, 2001. (II/322-326). On November 19, 2001, the trial court heard testimony from the defense expert, Dr. Berland. Relying solely on an interview with Defendant's ex-wife, the mother of the two victims in this case, Dr. Berland opined that Defendant was incompetent. According to information he obtained from Defendant's ex-wife, not from any additional testing of or interviews of the Defendant, Defendant was psychotic with paranoid delusional thinking. (XII/1401-1405).

After hearing from Dr. Berland, the trial court reiterated the history of Defendant's competency determinations. Additionally, the trial court noted that Dr. Maher had an

opportunity to observe Defendant's behavior in the courtroom and, based upon these observations, felt that Defendant was competent. Further, the trial judge himself observed Defendant behaving appropriately in court and conducting an adequate defense of himself. Based upon this information, the trial court found Defendant remained competent and could proceed to the penalty phase. (XII/1407-1409).

# Proceedings relevant to self-representation and continuance issues.

Defendant was first permitted to discharge the public defenders initially appointed to represent him after a <u>Nelson</u> hearing on January 24, 2000. (Supp. 1/62-94). Subsequently, on numerous occasions, the Defendant voiced his displeasure with his new attorneys, Messrs. Traina and Hernandez. (Supp. 2/117-150, 182-202). While the trial court was concerned with how Defendant's competency impacted his desire to fire his attorneys (Supp. 2/148-150), Defendant was, ultimately, found competent to stand trial.

Therefore, when the Defendant again told the court that he wanted to fire his attorneys, the trial court conducted the proper <u>Faretta</u> inquiry. (VII/488-516). Following the lengthy colloquy between the court and the Defendant, the Defendant was permitted to represent himself. During this exchange, the trial

court made it abundantly clear to the Defendant that he would not grant him a continuance simply because he was going to assume his own representation. Despite the trial court's admonitions concerning the danger of representing himself, the Defendant proceeded through the guilt phase representing himself and with his attorneys merely acting as standby counsel. However, at the close of the evidence, the Defendant asked that his counsel be reappointed, and the trial court complied with his request. (IX/846-847). Thereafter, Attorney Traina made the relevant motions (IX/848-849), and the closing argument for the defense.

Although the Defendant later asked that Attorney Hernandez be fired and replaced with a new attorney, the trial court refused that request. (Supp III/224-235). Subsequently, the Defendant proceeded through the penalty phase, <u>Spencer</u> hearing and sentencing hearing represented by Attorneys Traina and Hernandez.

#### Guilt phase

On the morning of January 3, 1999, the Defendant's ex-wife, Carmen Gonzalez, told him she no longer wanted him to live in the house. (VII/557). After an argument, she left to go to work at the family restaurant she owned. (VII/552, 559). When she left the home, the Defendant was present with her daughter

from a prior marriage, eleven year old Donna Berezovsky, and Gabriella, the daughter of Carmen and the Defendant. Carmen's adult son from a third marriage, Salvador Gonzalez, was also in the home.<sup>1</sup> (VII/559, 606).

Eventually, Salvador left to run errands, leaving Donna and Gabriella with the Defendant. (VII/607). After 35 to 40 minutes, Salvador returned home and found the front door locked with a chain. The Defendant's car was gone. (VII/608-610). When he finally got in the house, Salvador found Donna in the back family room on the ground. She was not breathing. (VII/612-613). After 911 was called, law enforcement arrived, and found Donna dead from one gunshot wound to the middle of her back. (VII/615, 621-622). According to an FDLE firearms expert, the bullet found at the scene was fired from Defendant's gun to the exclusion of all other firearms in the world. (VIII/766).

Shortly after killing Donna, Defendant drove to the family restaurant. Defendant was seen by numerous people, including Carmen, entering the restaurant. (VII/562, 583). The Defendant then went to the restroom and stayed inside for a few minutes.

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